FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/12/2021 3:27 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/13/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99768-3 COA No. 80772-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

G. STEVEN HAMMOND, M.D.,

Appellant,

v.

THE EVERETT CLINIC, PLLC, f/k/a/, THE EVERETT CLINIC, P.S., a limited liability corporation,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark G. Olson, WSBA #17846 Olson Law Firm, PLLC P.O. Box 1066 Everett, WA 98206 (425) 388-5516

Attorney for Appellant, G. Steven Hammond, M.D.

I.

III. IDENTITY OF PERSON REQUESTING RELIEF

Appellant, Dr. G. Steven Hammond, asks the

Court, through the undersigned counsel, for the relief requested in Part IV of this motion.

IV. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Appellant Dr. Hammond moves the Court, pursuant to RAP 13.4 (a), (b) and RAP 1.2 (a) for review of the Court's unpublished opinion, dated March 15, 2021. Specifically, Dr. Hammond moves the Court to review the Court of Appeals affirmance of the trial court's order granting summary judgment to respondent, The Everett Clinic, PLLC (TEC). Dr. Hammond also requests the Court to review the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's award of costs to respondent. Dr. Hammond also request the Court to review the Court of Appeals' denial of his motion for reconsideration, entered on April 12. 2021. Copies of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision and the order denying reconsideration are attached hereto as Appendices A and B.

V. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Should the Court review the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion under RAP 13.4 (b) (1)?
- 2. Should the Court review the Court of Appeals' Order Denying Reconsideration under RAP 13.4 (b) (1)?

VI. FACTS RELEVANT TO MOTION

This case is about a closely held medical business tricking its former shareholders into signing a release that disclaimed their contractual rights to the proceeds from a stock sale.

TEC was founded in 1924 and grew to include 20 locations in Snohomish County. TEC's physicians owned the business, and the corporate structure was designed to keep it that way. CP 899. Physicians who joined TEC were expected to buy into the corporation by purchasing shares of stock, and they

¹ The Everett Clinic Joins DaVita HealthCare Partners, TheEverettClinic.com, https://www.everettclinic.com/news/everett-clinic-joins-davita-healthcare-partners (last accessed May 25, 2020).

were expected to sell their stock back to TEC if they left. CP 96, 123, 258, 898-99. Individual physicians could not sell or transfer the shares of stock they held. CP 121-22, 898-99.

TEC's ownership structure had a unique additional feature. Physicians who had left TEC within the prior 15 years were entitled to share in the proceeds from the current stockholders' sale of all stock or dissolution of the corporation on the same basis as current shareholders. CP 124-25, 898-900. This arrangement went hand-in-hand with the provisions that restricted the ownership of the corporation: Besides the limitations on the sale or transfer of stock, departing physicians had to sell back their stock to TEC at the same price they bought it—depriving the stock of any "investment value." CP 900. At the same time, however, if a physician had departed and the current shareholders then sold or dissolved the corporation, the departed physician would share in the proceeds of the sale or dissolution. CP 124-25, 900.

TEC, as is common with closely held corporations, had a "Buy-Sell Agreement" to address these ownership matters. CP 121-29, 863, 899-902. The Buy-Sell Agreement defined the rights of Shareholders and Redeemed Shareholders if TEC ever sold its stock. CP 124. The Agreement defined "Redeemed Shareholders" as "any former Shareholder of the Corporation whose stock has been redeemed by the Corporation within fifteen (15) years prior to the date of the dissolution of the Corporation ... or the date of sale of all stock of the Corporation." CP 124. TEC agreed to "redeem" (buy back) a shareholder's stock if the shareholder's employment "terminated" for any reason, whatsoever." CP 122. The redemption price was generally the same as the price which the shareholder originally paid to buy the stock. CP 123. Section 6.4 of the Agreement set out the right of these Redeemed Stockholders to a distribution of the proceeds from any sale of TEC:

In the event that all of the outstanding stock of the Corporation is sold to one or more third parties [in] any one or more related transactions, then the Net

Sales Proceeds shall be held in trust for the benefit of the Shareholders whose stock was sold pursuant to the transaction or related transactions, and the Redeemed Shareholders.

CP 124 (Emphasis added). The amount of the distribution from a stock sale was established in interrelated provisions in sections 6.2, 6.3, and 6.4—equal distributions for current Stockholders and Redeemed Stockholders from the sum total of previous buyback amounts for redeemed shares plus "the stock sale proceeds less all expenses and costs of sale." CP 124-25. In this way, TEC's Buy-Sell Agreement "valued the contributions of prior shareholder/physicians to the growth and success of the clinic." CP 898.

Because the proceeds of a total stock sale were to be maintained in trust for current and Redeemed Shareholders, a duty of fiduciary care arose. TEC officers and board members—as well the corporation itself—owed them duties of "loyalty, good faith, full disclosure of all material facts, and avoidance of conflicts of interest," according to expert witness Scott Milburn. CP 863.

Dr. Hammond is a former physician employee and redeemed shareholder of TEC. CP 95-96, 257-58. Dr. Hammond bought into TEC as a shareholder with four shares of common stock, and he signed the Buy-Sell Agreement that had last been revised in 1997. CP 258, 856. Dr. Hammond left TEC within the 15-year period before 2014, and TEC redeemed (bought back) his shares in accordance with the Buy-Sell Agreement (at the price he bought them). CP 264.

By 2014, the healthcare industry had consolidated, and TEC leadership no longer felt tethered to the classic model of TEC as a physician-owned enterprise. CP 900. At that time, TEC's board approved a request for proposals to outside entities for "a strategic partnership or an acquisition." CP 900.

Initially, TEC leadership took the position that physicians who had departed TEC and sold their stock back to TEC within the last 15 years would share in any cash distribution from an asset sale or stock sale. CP 900. A TEC leader informed TEC physicians on TEC's "Doc Talk Blog" that proceeds would be

distributed to current and Redeemed Shareholders alike. CP 900. When a doctor planning to retire asked how his retirement date might affect his right to a distribution of the proceeds, a TEC leader assured the doctor by email that "all shareholders within 15 years would be included in any cash exchange for their shares." CP 900.

TEC's initial understanding about the nature of the intended transaction persisted for some time. In summer 2015, TEC's consultant Kauffman Hall provided an analysis to TEC leadership of several proposals, and its analysis assumed that distributions to shareholders would include Redeemed Shareholders. CP 901. After that presentation, TEC's attorneys forwarded term sheets to prospective bidders. CP 901. In these documents, TEC's attorneys informed prospective bidders that it was "critical" that the transaction be structured in a way that it "be treated for income tax purposes as a sale of stock by the Sellers." CP 901.

In late 2015, TEC approved an agreement with healthcare

conglomerate DaVita HealthCare Partners, Inc. CP 119, 264. With this transaction, the question under TEC's Buy-Sell Agreement with current and Redeemed Shareholders was whether "all of the outstanding stock of the Corporation is sold to one or more third parties [in] any one or more related transactions" within the meaning of section 6.4. CP 124. By then, however, TEC's board had heard from current shareholders who resisted the idea of Redeemed Shareholders receiving proceeds from the deal. CP 883, 1163. At the same time, TEC's board knew it needed two-thirds of current shareholders to vote to approve any deal. CP 359.

TEC leadership structured the transaction in a manner that it later claimed was *not* a stock sale triggering Redeemed Shareholder's rights under section 6.4. Working with DaVita, TEC designed what it called "a "seven-step reverse triangular merger." CP 346. In the initial step, TEC merged with a shell corporation that TEC termed the "Company Merger Sub"—a corporation which was to be formed solely "for the purpose of

effecting the transactions contemplated" in the agreement with DaVita. CP 132. At this juncture, TEC common stock was nominally to be canceled, not sold. CP 133. Then TEC would be merged with another shell corporation created for the transaction. CP 132-33. TEC's current shareholders would then obtain stock shares in the newly formed corporation. *Id.* After additional steps, this new corporation would merge with a wholly owned subsidiary of DaVita, and TEC's current shareholders—now shareholders of the just-merged new corporation—would receive a "cash merger consideration" in exchange for all their stock in the new corporation. CP 132.

Though this transaction was "complex," TEC admitted that the steps were "related," CP 132, which was a term also used in section 6.4 "... any one or more related transactions," CP 124 (emphasis added)). And despite its complexity, the transaction's seven steps were all executed within seven minutes, and "[t]he net result was that the TEC shareholders gave up their ownership interest in the Clinic at the start of the seven step process and

received cash at the end of it." CP 901. But TEC was loathe to acknowledge the transaction was an acquisition of TEC stock; TEC edited at least one draft document describing the transaction to replace the word "acquisition" with "merger." CP 866, 888-89.

DaVita took a different view. DaVita "insisted that the word 'acquisition' appear in the press release announcing the transaction so that DaVita could not be accused of misleading potential investors." CP 902. DaVita also disclosed to the federal Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") it had bought all TEC common stock shares for nearly \$400 million in cash. CP 119, 866. In the SEC filing, DaVita characterized the transaction as an "acquisition." CP 119. While DaVita also referred to the transaction as a "merger," DaVita's SEC report disclosed "[t]he total consideration paid at closing" and the "purchase price" for "all outstanding common units of TEC." CP 119. That price was "398,093,[000]," with some minor adjustments. CP 119.

Internally, TEC appeared to understand the substance of the transaction. TEC's then-board president, Dr. Harold Dash, later agreed that the deal with DaVita "was a method to acquire 100 percent of the stock, the TEC stock, held by the TEC shareholders." CP 1161. He also confirmed that a central purpose of TEC "was to find a transaction that would result in an equity payout to shareholders for their TEC stock." CP 1161.

Before the deal closed, TEC issued a letter dated December 3, 2015, along with a summary of the transaction, to Dr. Hammond and other Redeemed Shareholders. CP 132-43. TEC's letter described the deal was a "merger" and not a "sale of stock." CP 141. Accordingly, TEC's letter said, the TEC board stated section 6.4 of the Buy-Sell Agreement did not apply, and thus "there are no payment rights for former shareholders under the Buy-Sell Agreement with respect to transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement." CP 141. TEC's letter claimed, however, the TEC board "understands how opinions on the application of the Buy-Sell Agreement may differ with respect

to the merger transactions." CP 142. In an effort "'[t]o avoid the costs, risks and delays in possible litigation," TEC's board approved an offer of \$350,000 in exchange for a release. CP 142. By representing the transaction as a merger that was not a sale of stock under section 6.4, TEC and its officers and board members breached their duties to redeemed shareholders, including Dr. Hammond, according to an expert witness. CP 867.

Dr. Hammond read the documents and discussed them with his wife and briefly discussed with an attorney friend. CP 409-12, CP 415-16.

Under pressure to act before the TEC imposed deadline, Dr. Hammond signed the release on December 28, 2015. CP 435. At the time, Dr. Hammond did not realize that he might have claims against TEC also under the Washington State Securities Act; he would not find that out until pre-trial discovery in this case in mid-2019. CP 857.

DaVita subsequently sold TEC and other practices in California, Colorado, Florida, and New Mexico to OptumCare. TEC's roots as a physician-owned practice are long gone.

Procedural History

Objecting Redeemed Shareholders brought claims against TEC in a private arbitration action. CP 876-78. The arbitrator, Henry C. Jameson, ruled for the redeemed shareholders. CP 897-906. Jameson rejected the proposition that Redeemed Shareholders' rights under the Buy-Sell Agreement turned on whether the TEC-DaVita transaction was a merger. CP 903. Instead, Jameson concluded "'all of the outstanding stock of the Corporation [wa]s sold to one or more third parties [in] any one or more related transactions' within the meaning of Section 6.4." CP 903-04 Jameson ruled, "It clearly did." CP 904. He rejected TEC's argument that the seven-minute, seven-step structuring of the transaction as a "merger" was sufficient to remove the deal from section 6.4. CP 902. He reasoned each step was a "clearly 'related' transaction." CP 902 (quoting Buy-Sell Agreement §

6.4). Arbitrator Jameson also concluded "[t]he evidence showed a concerted effort by TEC to scrub from draft documents any reference to 'acquisition,' substituting in its place 'merger consideration.'" CP 901.

Dr. Hammond brought suit in King County Superior Court CP 1-29, 39-92, 95-148. TEC answered and brought a counterclaim for a declaratory judgment that the release agreement signed by Dr. Hammond was "valid and enforceable." CP 30-36, 257-74. One year later, TEC brought a motion for summary judgment, CP 329-56, which Dr. Hammond opposed. CP 844-53. Contemporaneously with his opposition to TEC's summary judgment motion, Dr. Hammond filed a motion for leave to amend his complaint to add a claim against TEC under the Washington State Securities Act. CP 826-43. The trial court, The Honorable Melinda J. Young, granted summary judgment to TEC, CP 807-09, and denied Dr. Hammond's motion to amend, CP 801-03. Dr. Hammond sought reconsideration of these orders. CP 810-22. The trial court denied the motion. CP 915.

On March 15, 2021, the Court of Appeals entered its unpublished opinion. App. 1. Therein the Court affirmed the summary judgment of the trial court. Dr. Hammond sought reconsideration of the unpublished opinion. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration on April 12, 2021. App. 2.

VII. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF AND ARGUMENT

RAP 1.2 (a) provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

"These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits..." RAP 13.4 (b)

(1) provides, as follows: "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;..."

In In State ex rel Hayes Oyster Co. v. Keypoint Oyster Co., 64 Wn. 2d 375, 385, 391 P. 2d 979 (1964), the trial court found a company's release of its president was not binding on the company because there was no disclosure of the president's interest in a newly created company. The president had

acquired an interest in the newly created company without disclosing that interest to the company for whom the president worked. "A corporation cannot ratify the breach of fiduciary duties unless full and complete disclosure of all facts and circumstances is made by the fiduciary and an intentional relinquishment by the corporation of its rights.". State ex rel. Hayes Oyster Co., 64 Wn. 2d 385-86.

In Wool Growers Service Corp. v. Ragan, 18 Wn. 2d 655, 140 P. 2d 512 (1943), a creditor of a certain stockholder who was appointed trustee of voting trust and trustee continued a debtor stockholder as manager long after trustee knew that manager was taking undue personal advantage of his power, and assisted him in doing so, to the disadvantage of the corporation and its stockholders. The record established the release was obtained without full disclosure and was not supported by adequate consideration, and therefore neither the complaining stockholder nor the corporation was "estopped" by the release from demanding an accounting. 18 Wn. 2d 697.

Two important rules emerge from *Hayes Oyster Co.* and *Wool Growers*: (1) a corporate officer is a fiduciary; and (2) a release by a fiduciary requires full and complete disclosure of all facts and circumstances.

The rules announced in Hayes Oyster Co. and Wool

Growers are strengthened by Jordan v. Duff & Phelps, 817 F.

2d 429, 435 (7th Cir. 1987). ("Close corporations buying their own stock, like knowledgeable insiders of closely held firms buying from outsiders, have a fiduciary duty to disclose material facts."). Such disclosure was necessary here to prevent Dr. Hammond from erroneously concluding he was not entitled to his share of the net sales proceeds of TEC.

The following material facts were not disclosed to Dr.

Hammond prior to execution of the release:

•A TEC assured a current shareholder doctor by email that "all shareholders within 15 years would be included in any cash exchange for their shares." CP 900.

•TEC's own consultant provided an analysis to
TEC leadership of several proposals with the
understanding that distributions to shareholders would
include Redeemed Shareholders. CP 901.

•TEC's then-board president, Dr. Harold Dash, knew that the transaction was designed to obtain an equity payment for current shareholders in exchange for their shares of stock. CP 1161.

•TEC's attorneys forwarded term sheets to prospective bidders informing them that it was "critical" that the transaction be structured in a way that it "be treated for income tax purposes as a sale of stock by the Sellers" and not a merger. CP 901.

•Based on these term sheets presented by TEC's attorneys, TEC must have known that its board members, officers, and shareholders all would report to the IRS that the "merger considerations" were capital gains from a stock sale.

•DaVita told TEC that the transaction had to be structured as a stock sale and knew that the nature of the transaction meant that Redeemed Shareholders had claims under section 6.4 of the Agreement. CP 119, 866, 1191-92.

•TEC knew that DaVita believed the transaction satisfied the condition precedent in Section 6.4.

TEC does not dispute that the foregoing facts were not disclosed in its letter of December 3, 2015 to Steven Hammond and the Redeemed Shareholders.

From the foregoing, at a minimum, triable issues of fact persist whether TEC made the full disclosure of material facts required by *Hayes Oyster Co.*, *Wool Growers* and *Jordan v*.

Duff & Phelps. The Court should therefore take review of this case under RAP 13.4 (b) (1) to ensure the rules announced in *Hayes Oyster Co.*, and *Wool Growers* are followed by the lower courts.

The Court of Appeals' Order Denying Reconsideration also merits review under RAP 13.4 (b) (1). Appellant incorporates herein the arguments and authorities stated above.

VIII. CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, this Court should undertake review, reverse the Court of Appeals and the trial court, and remand the case for trial.