FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/8/2021 9:21 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 997683

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

G. STEVEN HAMMOND, M.D.,

Petitioner,

v.

THE EVERETT CLINIC, PLLC, f/k/a THE EVERETT CLINIC, P.S., a limited liability corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David R. Goodnight, WSBA #20286 Jenna M. Poligo, WSBA #54466 Jill D. Bowman, WSBA #11754 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 Phone: (206) 624-0900

Attorneys for Respondent The Everett Clinic, PLLC

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

After he sent the email, Dr. Hammond spoke with Dr. Jacobson. CP 444. During their telephone conversation, Dr. Jacobson confirmed that the transaction between TEC and DaVita was "happening." *Id.* Dr. Jacobson then volunteered that a group of former shareholders planned to reject the settlement offer and pursue what they felt were legitimate claims as former shareholders. CP 444-45. Dr. Hammond elected not to contact that group of former shareholders. CP 418. He was, as he admitted in his deposition, unwilling to forgo "a guaranteed \$350,000 for the chance of prevailing in *[the] arbitration.*" CP 443 (emphasis added).

After speaking with his wife, his lawyer, and Dr. Jacobson, Dr. Hammond executed the release agreement. CP 501-04, 856. He knew he could have contacted the K&L Gates lawyers to ask questions, but he chose not to do so. CP 420-21. He knew he could have requested a copy of the Merger Agreement, but he chose not to do so. CP 424-25. He did not request more time to evaluate the offer; instead, he signed the release on December 28, 2015, and sent it back in plenty of time to ensure it was received before the deadline for acceptance of the settlement offer. CP 436.

Shortly after he executed the release agreement, Dr. Hammond received an email from Erika Price informing him that her husband had joined a group of former shareholders who planned to arbitrate their rights under the Buy-Sell Agreement. CP 506. Dr. Hammond responded that he had decided to accept the offered settlement. *Id*.

7. The terms of Dr. Hammond's release and his knowing acceptance of the same.

Dr. Hammond's release agreement contained the following terms:

In exchange for Company's execution and performance of this Agreement on the terms stated herein, Former Shareholder on behalf of himself/herself and his/her marital community, if any, and the Former Shareholder's heirs. successors, and assigns, fully and finally waives, releases, discharges and agrees to hold harmless Company and its shareholders, representatives, employees, officers, directors, agents, attorneys, assigns, heirs and successors (the "Released Parties") from any and all claims, causes of action and demands of any kind or nature, whether matured or unmatured, contingent or non-contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, known or unknown, based in contract, tort, statute, common law or equity, that Former Shareholder may now assert or may in the future assert against Released Party related to or arising under the Buy-Sell Agreement, the Merger Agreement and any and all transactions contemplated thereunder.

Former Shareholder understands that Former Shareholder may later discover claims or facts that may be different than, or in addition to, those that Former Shareholder or any other Former Shareholder now knows or believes to exist regarding the subject matter of this release, and which, if known at the time of the signing this Release Agreement, may have materially affected this Release Agreement and Former Shareholder's decision to enter into it and grant the release provided in this Paragraph 2. Former Shareholder expressly waives any right, claim, cause of action or demand that might arise as a result of such different or additional facts. Former Shareholder further agrees that Former Shareholder shall forever covenant not to sue or otherwise seek to enforce the Buy-Sell Agreement against Company or Company's shareholders.

CP 501-02 (emphases added).

In the same release agreement, Dr. Hammond represented and warranted that he:

(i) carefully read this Agreement; (ii) knows and understands the contents of it; (iii) had the opportunity to discuss it and its effects with an attorney of its/his/her choice; (iv) signed it as their free and voluntary act; and (v) [had] full and legal authority to enter into this Binding Agreement.

... [H]ad an opportunity to review the correspondence from the Company that accompanies this Agreement, the Summary of Merger as provided by the Company, the Buy-Sell Agreement and, if requested and subject to a nondisclosure agreement, the Merger Agreement, and that such documents constitute all information material to Former Shareholder's decision to enter into this Agreement.

CP 502. He also represented that he had:

conducted his or her own due diligence, [and was] not relying on (and shall not rely on) any statements, interpretation, promises, representations, warranties or agreements from Company or its directors, officers, employees, representatives, or shareholders, whether written or oral, other than documents identified in Paragraph 3(b).

CP 502-03.

When he signed the release agreement, Dr. Hammond understood that:

- Opinions could differ as to the interpretation of the Buy-Sell Agreement and its application to the proposed transaction between TEC and DaVita. CP 423.
- The Board was offering the settlement program as a compromise to avoid the risks of litigation. CP 423, 426-27.
- He was agreeing to accept an amount "significantly less" than current shareholders would receive if the transaction were to close. CP 428.
- In exchange for the \$350,000 settlement payment, he was "waiving, releasing, discharging and agreeing to hold harmless [TEC] and its shareholders[] [and] representatives . . . from any and

all claims, causes of action and demands of any kind or nature." CP at 429-32; *see also* CP 506. This included "claims based on facts that might arise in the future" and claims based on "different or additional facts." CP 432-34.

When asked in deposition what else he wanted to have been told by TEC before he signed the release agreement, Dr. Hammond admitted he could not think of a "single, specific thing." CP 650.

8. Closure of the merger transaction and payment of the settlement amount.

TEC and DaVita closed the seven-step reverse triangular merger between February 29, 2016 and March 1, 2016. CP 359. Dr. Hammond received his \$350,000 settlement payment as agreed. CP 437.

9. The *Baer* arbitration.

Of the 138 former shareholders who received TEC's settlement offer, 107 accepted it. CP 392-93. The others commenced an arbitration proceeding (the *Baer* arbitration) claiming they were entitled to share in the proceeds from the TEC/DaVita transaction to the same extent as were the current TEC shareholders. *See* CP 514-15, 897-907. The dispute was tried to an arbitrator in December 2016. CP 514-15. After the arbitrator ruled in favor of the former shareholders, the King County Superior Court entered the arbitrator's decision as a final judgment. CP 514-19, 521-23, 897-907.

In his written decision, the arbitrator addressed the specific unresolved issue TEC had identified in its December 3 settlement offer letter: Whether the former shareholders' contingent rights under the BuySell Agreement would be triggered by TEC's transaction with DaVita. CP 903-04. In addressing this question, the arbitrator observed that TEC and DaVita had "agreed on a seven step transaction that included three mergers," and acknowledged that the case law cited by the parties was "mixed" on the question of whether a merger is a sale of shares. CP 901-02. Instead of deciding that question, however, he concluded that the issue before him was "not whether the DaVita transaction represented in the abstract either a merger or a sale of all outstanding TEC shares." CP 903. In his view, the issue presented in the arbitration was whether all of TEC's outstanding stock had been "sold to one or more third parties [in] any one or more related transactions." CP 903-04. It was his conclusion that it had been and therefore the arbitration claimants were entitled to share in the net proceeds from the DaVita transaction. CP 904.

10. Dr. Hammond's reaction to the *Baer* arbitration decision.

In the spring of 2017, Dr. Hammond learned that the former shareholders had prevailed in the *Baer* arbitration. CP 856-57. Although he had not questioned the validity of his release agreement before learning about the outcome of the arbitration, Dr. Hammond suddenly "felt [he] had been deceived and misled." CP 438, 857. He now claims that had he known that the DaVita transaction "was in fact an 'acquisition' and not a 'merger" and that "a 'slush fund' of sorts had been created . . . to pay claims from the Redeemed Shareholders," he "would have insisted on being paid the full value of [his] redeemed shares." CP 857.

B. Statement of Proceedings.

On August 31, 2018, Dr. Hammond filed an action against TEC asking to have his release declared "null and void" and to be awarded more than \$650,000 based on the outcome of the *Baer* arbitration. CP 1-6. Earl Bardin, M.D., later joined the action as a second plaintiff. CP 37-92. After the doctors filed a second amended complaint, CP 93-94; *see also* CP 95-148, TEC answered and counterclaimed seeking a declaration that the doctors' release agreements were valid and enforceable. CP 257-74. The doctors never answered TEC's counterclaim.

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. CP 297-311, 329-52. Drs. Hammond and Bardin also filed a motion for leave to file a third amended complaint so they could add a claim under the Washington State Securities Act and add TEC's Board President, Dr. Harold Dash, as an individual defendant. CP 277-94. The doctors' partial summary judgment motion was based on the alleged "preclusive effect" of the *Baer* arbitration award; it also addressed TEC's "failure to arbitrate" affirmative defense and the issue of whether return of the \$350,000 settlement payment was a condition precedent to the doctors' recovery. CP 297. Relying heavily on the doctors' admissions, TEC sought a ruling that the doctors' release agreements were valid and enforceable and barred all their claims against TEC. CP 335-40, 344-50.

The trial court heard oral argument on the parties' summary judgment motions and the doctors' motion for leave to file a third amended complaint. CP 741; RP 4-40. At that hearing, the doctors were asked,

pointblank, "leaving . . . aside what the arbitrator found, what is the evidence of fraud by the Board in calling this a 'merger' versus an 'acquisition[?]" RP 9. The doctors could not point to any: "I'm not sure there is—outside Henry Jameson's arbitration decision"² *Id*.

On October 3, 2019, the trial court granted TEC's motion for summary judgment in its entirety and dismissed the doctors' claims with prejudice. CP 807-09. It also denied as moot the doctors' cross-motion for summary judgment and denied their motion for leave to file a third amended complaint. CP 801-03, 804-05. The doctors moved for reconsideration, which the trial court also denied. CP 810-22, 915.

TEC moved for an award of its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. CP 916-28. The doctors disputed the amount of fees requested but did not challenge TEC's right to recover attorneys' fees or costs. CP 1109-17. Following oral argument, the trial court granted TEC's motion with certain fee adjustments and awarded TEC its reasonable attorneys' fees, costs, and expenses. RP 41-64; CP 1152, 1226-29.

The trial court entered judgment jointly and severally against Drs. Hammond and Bardin. CP 1217-19. The doctors appealed.³ CP 1145-51, 1220-25. The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment in an unpublished opinion, *see Hammond v. Everett Clinic, PLLC*, No. 80772-2-I, 2021 WL

² Contrary to the doctors' suggestion, the *Baer* arbitrator did not hold that the transaction between TEC and DaVita was an acquisition instead of a merger. *See* CP 903-04.

³ Dr. Bardin later chose to withdraw his appeal. *See* Co-Appellant Dr. Earl Bardin's Motion for Voluntary Withdrawal of Review and to Recaption Case Title, Case No. 80772-2-I, filed May 1, 2020. The Court of Appeals granted Dr. Bardin's motion for withdrawal. *See* Notation Ruling, entered May 11, 2020.

961130 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 15, 2021), and denied Dr. Hammond's motion for reconsideration.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Any Decision of This Court.

Although Dr. Hammond bases his petition for discretionary review on RAP 13.4(b)(1) and his assertion that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *State ex rel. Hayes Oyster Co. v. Keypoint Oyster Co.*, 64 Wn.2d 375, 391 P.2d 979 (1964), and *Wool Growers Service Corp. v. Ragan*, 18 Wn.2d 655, 140 P.2d 512 (1943), *see* Appellant's Petition for Review at 15-19, there is no conflict. Neither of the cited decisions addresses a former shareholder's attempt to void a settlement agreement he knowingly and voluntarily made, nor do they even suggest that a corporation owes fiduciary duties to a former shareholder.

The *Hayes Oyster* decision concerned fiduciary duties that corporate officers and directors owed to their corporation and its shareholders under Washington's Private Business Corporation Act (a statute that was repealed in 1965), and under the common law. *See Hayes Oyster*, 64 Wn.2d at 381 (citing RCW 23.01.360). The Court held that a corporate officer or director owed a duty to the corporation and its shareholders to make full disclosure of the details of any transaction involving corporate property in which the officer or director had a personal interest. *See id.* at 381-86. The Court further held the

corporation could not release its former corporate officer from his breach of fiduciary duties unless a full and complete disclosure was made to the corporation and the corporation thereafter intentionally relinquished its rights. *See id.* at 385-86. In no part of that decision, however, did the Court address whether a corporate officer or director, or the corporation itself, owes any duty at all to an individual who (a) at the time of the transaction at issue is not a shareholder because he had sold all his shares many years before, and (b) possesses only a contingent contractual right with respect to any proceeds flowing from the transaction. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is not "in conflict with" the *Hayes Oyster* decision.

Nor does the *Wool Growers* decision, 18 Wn.2d 655, conflict with the Court of Appeals' ruling. In that case, the Court observed that the directors and officers of a corporation should be deemed to stand in a fiduciary relation to the corporation, *id.* at 691 (citing Laws of 1933, ch. 185, § 33, p. 796 – a statute that was amended and later repealed), and that corporate directors also stand in a fiduciary relation to the corporation's shareholders, while majority shareholders stand in a fiduciary relation to minority shareholders, *id.* (citing 1 George Gleason Bogert et al., *Trusts and Trustees*, § 16, at 59). Nowhere in that decision is there any indication that a corporation, or its corporate officers or directors, owe any fiduciary duty to a former shareholder.

As for the portion of the *Wool Growers* ruling refusing to hold two parties estopped by their release from demanding an accounting, the Court

determined their release was invalid because full disclosure had not been made to a person described as "uneducated" and "unable to read English or write it," and because the consideration given for the release was "so grossly unfair that it cannot be recognized . . . in equity." 18 Wn.2d at 657, 697. Indeed, the Court determined that the consideration for the release had a value of "less than nothing." *Id.* at 695-96. That obviously is not the case here. The decision does not support Dr. Hammond's effort to have this Court void the release that he signed knowingly and voluntarily.

Finally, the Seventh Circuit case cited at page 17 of Appellant's Petition for Review also does not help Dr. Hammond. *See Jordan v. Duff & Phelps*, 815 F.2d 429 (7th Cir. 1987). It is not covered by RAP 13.4. Even if it were, it does not hold that any fiduciary duty is owed by a corporation (or its officers and directors) to an individual who sold his shares back to the corporation many years before the parties' dispute arose.

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Rejected Dr. Hammond's Effort to Void His Settlement Agreement and the Trial Court's Award of Fees and Costs.

A party seeking to avoid a contractual release must prove (1) he agreed to the contract based on an assertion that was not in accord with the facts, (2) the assertion was fraudulent or material, and (3) he reasonably relied on the assertion. *Yakima Cty. (W. Valley) Fire Prot. Dist. No. 12 v. City of Yakima*, 122 Wn.2d 371, 390, 858 P.2d 245 (1993); *Brinkerhoff v. Campbell*, 99 Wn. App. 692, 697, 994 P.2d 911 (2000). Based on the

undisputed evidence in the record, the Court of Appeals properly concluded Dr. Hammond had not met his burden. *Hammond*, 2021 WL 961130, at *1.

Dr. Hammond and TEC's other former shareholders each made a choice. As did more than 75 percent of the company's former shareholders, Dr. Hammond chose to accept the settlement offered by TEC. Although he knew there was a difference of opinion as to whether the former shareholders had a contractual right to share in the proceeds from the DaVita transaction, Dr. Hammond elected to accept the offered \$350,000 rather than risk receiving nothing. That was his choice after he studied the documents and spoke to his wife, his lawyer, and a then-current shareholder, and after he learned that others had decided to reject the settlement offer and pursue their contract rights in arbitration. The Court of Appeals properly held he should not be permitted to back out of a deal that he knowingly and voluntarily made, merely because others who took the risk later prevailed on their claims. *Id.* at *2-5.

Dr. Hammond never challenged TEC's right to seek attorneys' fees and costs. In fact, he agreed before the trial court that the request was proper, and before the Court of Appeals, he sought reversal of the award only in the event he prevailed. *Id.* at *6. He did not prevail and he has not identified any grounds under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court now to reconsider the trial court's award.

V. CONCLUSION

Dr. Hammond's petition for review should be denied.